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I. STATEMENT 
1. On September 10, 2013, Commission Staff (Staff) filed Civil Penalty Assessment Notice (CPAN) No. 107489 against Mohamed Amrich, doing business as V S P Limousine (Respondent) in Proceeding No. 13G-0986EC. That same day, Staff also filed 
CPAN No. 107427 with the Commission against the same Respondent in Proceeding 
No. 13G-0987EC. 

2. The Commission referred both proceedings to an administrative law judge (ALJ) to decide the merits of the CPANs.  The undersigned ALJ was assigned to both of the proceedings.

3. By Decision Nos. R13-1242-I in Proceeding No. 13G-0986EC and R13-1244-I in Proceeding No. 13G-0987EC issued October 3, 2013, the undersigned ALJ scheduled hearings in both matters.  In Proceeding No. 13G-0986EC, a hearing was scheduled for November 19, 2013 at 9:30 a.m.; a hearing was scheduled at 1:00 p.m. for the same day in Proceeding 
No. 13G-0987EC.  Both hearings were scheduled to take place at the Commission’s offices in Denver, Colorado.  Id. 
4. On November 5, 2013, Staff filed a Motion to Consolidate Proceeding 
Nos. 13G-0986EC and 13G-0987EC. For good cause shown, the ALJ consolidated the proceedings for all purposes.  Decision No. R13-1430-I.  By the same Decision, the ALJ ordered that the consolidated proceeding would be heard on November 19, 2013 at 9:30 a.m., as noticed to the parties on October 3, 2013.  See Decision No. R13-1242-I.   The ALJ vacated the hearing scheduled for November 19, 2013 at 1:00 p.m.  Decision No. R13-1430-I. 

5. On the date, time, and location designated, the ALJ convened the consolidated proceeding for a hearing.  Staff appeared through counsel.  Respondent, Mr. Mohamed Amrich, appeared.  Mr. Michael Gullatte and Mr. Anthony Cummings testified on behalf of Staff.  Mr. Amrich chose not to testify.
  During the course of the hearing, Hearing Exhibits 1 through 8 were identified, offered, and admitted into evidence.

II. FINDINGS OF FACT, DISCUSSION, AND CONCLUSIONS
A. The Witnesses
6. Mr. Amrich (Respondent) is an individual doing business as V S P Limousine.  Hearing Exhibit 1.  Mr. Amrich operates a luxury limousine service, under Commission Permit No. LL-00919.  Id.  The Commission issued this permit in 2002.  Id. 
7. Mr. Gullatte and Mr. Cummings are Criminal Investigators with the Commission’s Transportation Division. Their job duties include investigating and verifying regulated motor carriers’ compliance with Commission rules and applicable statutes, conducting safety and compliance reviews, and issuing warnings and civil penalty assessments against those motor carriers who violate Commission rules. 

Mr. Gullatte has been with the Commission for approximately one year.  He has been trained to conduct safety and compliance reviews and has conducted at least 75 reviews 

8. without supervision.  Prior to joining the Commission, Mr. Gullatte was a law enforcement officer for ten years. 

9. Mr. Cummings is a lead Criminal Investigator.  Mr. Cumming’s responsibilities are similar to Mr. Gullatte’s, with the exception that he also supervises three investigators. 

10. Commission criminal investigators conduct safety and compliance reviews of luxury limousine providers on a random basis.  Generally, the luxury limousine providers are randomly selected by a computer system for this review every one to three years.  Safety and compliance reviews generally consist of a visual inspection of the regulated motor carriers’ vehicles, and an inspection of the motor carriers’ records. 

11. Respondent was randomly selected for a safety and compliance review. Mr. Gullatte issued CPAN No. 107489 to Respondent after conducting the review.   

12. Mr. Gullatte scheduled the safety and compliance review with Respondent. Mr. Gullatte appeared at Respondent’s office as scheduled on August 20, 2013 to conduct the review.  During the review, Mr. Gullatte visually inspected Respondent’s sole luxury limousine.  He also reviewed Respondent’s records to ensure compliance with the Commission’s rules and applicable statutes. 

13. Mr. Gullatte identified several problems with Respondent’s records.  Hearing Exhibit 5.  In particular, Mr. Gullatte discovered the following alleged violations of Commission rules and applicable statutes: 

· failure to give the driver written notification of his rights as it pertains to driver safety history investigations, violation of 49 C.F.R. 391.23(i)(1); 

· failure to inquire as to driving records from applicable state agencies at least every 12 months and maintain such records, violation of 49 C.F.R. 391.25(a) and (c)(1); 

· failure to review driving record of each driver to determine minimum requirements and make note of such review in file, violation of 49 C.F.R. 391.25(b) and (c)(2); 

· failure to maintain in the qualification file the application for employment for driver, violation of 49 C.F.R. 391.51(b)(1); and 

· failure to maintain a means to indicate the nature and due date of inspection and maintenance to be performed, violation of 49 C.F.R. 396.3(b)(2).  

14. During the review, Mr. Gullatte informed Respondent that each of the referenced documents were missing; he gave Respondent an opportunity to locate them.  Respondent was unable to do so.  Mr. Gullatte issued a written warning citing each of the referenced violations.  Hearing Exhibit 5. 

15. Mr. Gullatte issued CPAN No. 107489 on September 3, 2013.  This CPAN cited only one violation, that is, on August 20, 2013, Respondent failed to keep records indicating the nature and due date of inspection and maintenance to be performed, violation of Rule 6102 of the Rules Regulating Transportation by Motor Vehicle, 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 
723-6. 

16. On August 26, 2013, Mr. Cummings was in the outdoor transportation area on level five of Denver International Airport (DIA) randomly approaching regulated motor carriers to ensure compliance with Commission rules and applicable statutes.  Level five of DIA is not open to the general public for passenger pick-up and drop-off.  Regulated carriers who have a prearranged passenger pick-up on level five must obtain a pass from DIA’s ground transportation to have access to level five of DIA.  In Mr. Cummings’s experience, luxury limousines typically pick up passengers on level six of DIA, not level five.  At approximately 10:00 a.m. that morning, Mr. Cummings witnessed an argument between a female DIA employee and Respondent.  Mr. Cummings decided to investigate Respondent after observing this argument and seeing Respondent’s luxury limousine, which displayed his Commission permit number.  Mr. Cummings was concerned that the argument was about to escalate into a physical altercation because Respondent was walking toward the female DIA employee while yelling.  At this point, Mr. Cummings intervened, placing himself between Respondent and the DIA employee.  Mr. Cummings identified himself as a Commission investigator and asked Respondent to produce his driver’s license, medical certificate, and charter order. 

17. According to Mr. Cummings, Respondent was extremely agitated. However, he did produce his medical certificate.  Mr. Cummings again asked for Respondent’s driver’s license and charter order.  Respondent then produced his driver’s license.  He did not produce a charter order.  Respondent told Mr. Cummings he did not have a charter order to produce, but that he was there to pick up a passenger.  Respondent told him the name of the passenger.  According to Mr. Cummings, Respondent also used profanity to express his frustration with Mr. Cummings’s requests.  Mr. Cummings repeated his request for the charter order. Respondent answered that the next time he wanted documents, Mr. Cummings should make an appointment.  Respondent then abruptly drove away.

18. Mr. Cummings issued CPAN No. 107427 to Respondent for failing to provide a charter order immediately upon request of an enforcement official on August 26, 2013, violation of Rule 6309(d), 4 CCR 723-6.  Hearing Exhibit 7. 

19. Mr. Gullatte personally served both CPANs on Respondent on September 10, 2013 at the Commission’s office.
  Hearing Exhibits 6 and 7. 

20. Staff admitted evidence concerning Respondent’s history complying with Commission rules.  In 2006, a CPAN was issued against Respondent for four violations of Commission rules and applicable statutes.  Hearing Exhibit 4.  All cited violations relate to Respondent’s poor recordkeeping.  Id. Respondent paid the full penalty assessed for the 2006 CPAN. 

21. In 2003, a CPAN was issued against Respondent for failing to operate on a prearranged charter basis.  Hearing Exhibit 2.  This violation is similar, but not identical to the September 10, 2013 CPAN issued to Respondent for failing to provide a charter order immediately upon demand of enforcement officer.  Hearing Exhibit 7.  Staff did not present evidence concerning the outcome of the 2003 CPAN, e.g., whether Respondent paid the fine, or whether any Commission decision was issued finding that Respondent had committed the charged violation. 

22. In total, Respondent has been cited for seven violations of Commission rules or applicable statutes in the 11 years he has been in business.  Hearing Exhibits 1, 2, 4, 6, and 7. 

B. The CPAN
23. Commission enforcement personnel have authority to issue CPANs under 
§ 40-7-116, C.R.S.  That statute provides that the Commission has the burden of demonstrating a violation by a preponderance of the evidence.  The preponderance standard requires the finder of fact to determine whether the existence of a contested fact is more probable than its 
non-existence.  Swain v. Colorado Department of Revenue, 717 P.2d 507, 508 (Colo. App. 1985).  A party has met this burden of proof when the evidence, on the whole, slightly tips in favor of that party.  
24. The August 20, 2013 CPAN (No. 107489) charges Respondent with failing to keep minimum records of inspection and vehicle maintenance to be performed, in violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 4 CCR 723-6 and 49 Code of Federal Regulations (C.F.R.) 396.3(b).  Hearing Exhibit 6.  

25. Rule 6102, 4 CCR 723-6, incorporates 49 C.F.R. 396 by reference.  In relevant part, 49 C.F.R. 396.3(b), requires that for each vehicle the motor carrier controls for 30 consecutive days, the motor carrier must maintain records that show the nature and due date of inspection and maintenance operations to be performed.  

26. The evidence was undisputed that Respondent did not maintain records showing the nature of and due date of inspection and maintenance operations to be performed for his sole luxury limousine.  Supra, ¶¶ 13-15. 

27. However, before Respondent may be assessed a civil penalty for failing to maintain those records, the ALJ must first find that Respondent was required to do so.  The plain language of 49 C.F.R. 396.3(b) requires carriers to maintain such records for each motor vehicle they control for 30 consecutive days.  There is no language suggesting that a carrier must maintain records for vehicles they control for less than 30 consecutive days.  Accordingly, a civil penalty may only be assessed if the ALJ finds that Respondent had control over the subject vehicle for 30 consecutive days as of the date of the violation.  The only evidence touching upon the issue is Mr. Gullatte’s testimony that he inspected Respondent’s only vehicle.  But, that shows only that Respondent had control over the vehicle at the time of the review.  An inference that Respondent had control over the vehicle for 30 consecutive cannot be reasonably drawn from this fact.  

28. Moreover, there was no other evidence presented to support a finding that Respondent had control over the subject vehicle for 30 consecutive days.
  To the contrary, the evidence showed that Respondent’s current vehicle was not in his control when he was given a violation warning in 2006.  Hearing Exhibits 3 and 5 (2006 warning references a 1999 Lincoln, while the 2013 warning references a 2004 Lincoln.).  

29. It may be that Respondent had control over the inspected vehicle for 30 consecutive days, but the preponderance of the evidence did not show this. Consequently, the ALJ has no choice but to conclude that Staff failed to meet its burden of proof as to Count 1 of CPAN No. 107489.  

30. The August 26, 2013 CPAN (No. 107427) charges Respondent with failing to provide a charter order immediately upon request of an enforcement official, violation of Rule 6309(d), 4 CCR 723-6.   That rule states, “[a] luxury limousine carrier shall provide the charter order immediately upon request by any enforcement official or airport authority.” (emphasis added). 

31. Luxury limousine carriers may only provide service on a prearranged basis, meaning, that the service has been arranged or reserved before the service takes place.  Rule 6309(a), 4 CCR 723-6.  A charter order is a record of the reservation for the luxury limousine service and is a means by which the Commission’s enforcement personnel may verify that service is being provided on a prearranged basis.  See Rule 6309(b), 4 CCR 723-6.  Indeed, at all times when providing luxury limousine service, carriers must have their charter order in the vehicle.  Id.  The charter order must include the name, telephone number, pick up time, pick up address of the party who has arranged for service, and the prearranged price for the service.  Id.  
32. The preponderance of the evidence showed that on August 26, 2013, Respondent did not produce a charter order immediately upon the lawful request of a Commission enforcement official, Mr. Cummings, in violation of Rule 6309(d), 4 CCR 723-6.  Supra, 
¶¶ 16-17.   In fact, Respondent did not produce a charter order at any point.  Accordingly, the ALJ concludes that Staff met its burden of proof as to Count 1 in CPAN No. 107427.

33. Having found the above violation of the cited regulation, it is necessary to determine the amount of the civil penalty to be assessed for the violation.  
34. Section 40-7-113, C.R.S., authorizes the Commission to consider aggravating or mitigating circumstances surrounding particular violations in order to fashion a penalty assessment that promotes the underlying purpose of such assessments. 
35. In accordance with Rule 1302(b), Rules of Practice and Procedure 4 CCR 723-1: 

The Commission may impose a civil penalty, when provided by law.  The Commission will consider any evidence concerning … the following factors:

(I)
the nature, circumstances, and gravity of the violation;

(II)
the degree of the respondent’s culpability;

(III)
the respondent’s history of prior offenses;

(IV)
the respondent’s ability to pay;

(V)
any good faith efforts by the respondent in attempting to achieve compliance and to prevent future similar violations;

(VI)
the effect on the respondent’s ability to continue in business;

(VII)
the size of the respondent’s business; and

(VIII)
such other factors as equity and fairness may require. 
Rule 1302(b), 4 CCR 723-1.

36. The Commission performs an important health and safety function of guaranteeing that authorized luxury limousine carriers follow the Commission’s rules. Respondent disregarded its responsibilities to this Commission and the public. 

37. The ALJ finds that Respondent should be assessed a civil penalty for the proven violation detailed in Count 1 of CPAN No. 107427.  The maximum civil penalty with a 10 percent surcharge for the CPAN is $550.00.  Staff requested that the full amount of the civil penalty be assessed. 

38. There was no evidence of mitigation. To the contrary, there was evidence of aggravating factors.  For one, Mr. Amrich argued that the violations he was charged with were not important, and were “silly.”  When Mr. Cummings asked Respondent to produce his charter order, he used foul language in response, told Mr. Cummings to make an appointment if he wanted to access records, and abruptly drove away. This demonstrates an unabashed disrespect for the Commission’s authority.  Moreover, this response is consistent with arguments Respondent made during the hearing that he should not be assessed a civil penalty for failing to follow Commission rules that he deems unimportant. 

39. For the foregoing reasons and authorities, the ALJ will assess Respondent the maximum civil penalty of $550.00 for Count 1 of CPAN No. 107427, which includes a 10 percent surcharge.  

40. Staff also requested that Respondent be ordered to cease and desist operating in violation of Rule 6102(a)(I), 49 C.F.R. 396.3 and Rule 6309(d), 4 CCR 723-6.  Staff essentially seeks an order requiring Respondent to comply with the Rules that he was cited for violating in the two CPANs involved in this consolidated proceeding.  However, since the ALJ found that Staff failed to meet its burden as to CPAN No. 107489 (recordkeeping), the ALJ is hard-pressed to issue a cease and desist order relating to that alleged violation.  

41. Nevertheless, Respondent has a history of violating Commission rules.  Supra, ¶¶ 20-21.  For example, in 2003, Respondent was issued a CPAN for failing to operate 
on a prearranged basis. Id. Although that charge differs slightly from the charge in 
CPAN No. 107427 (failing to produce charter order), the similarities are significant enough for a pattern to emerge.  The purpose of requiring luxury limousine providers to produce charter orders immediately upon request of an enforcement official is to facilitate the Commission’s enforcement of the mandate that luxury limousine carriers only provide service on a prearranged basis.  In the past, Respondent was cited for failing to operate on a prearranged basis, while here, Respondent was cited for failing to produce evidence that would ensure he was operating on a prearranged basis. In addition, Respondent’s arguments demonstrated his disregard for following Rule 6309(d), 4 CCR 723-6.  Under the circumstances, it is appropriate to order Respondent to cease and desist operating in violation of Rule 6309(d), 4 CCR 723-6.  In other words, should an enforcement official request that Respondent produce a charter order in the future, and Respondent fails to immediately produce a charter order, he has operated in violation of Rule 6309(d), 4 CCR 723-6 and the cease and desist order. 

42. Respondent is warned that should he fail to produce a charter order immediately upon demand of an enforcement official again, the consequences for this may be more severe than a civil penalty.  Having been in operation since 2002, Respondent should be well aware that he must comply with all of the Commission’s rules, not just those that he believes are important.  Nonetheless, Respondent is again put on notice of this fact. 

43. Respondent would be well-advised to review the Commission’s rules and ensure that he complies with those rules, particularly as it relates to recordkeeping.  The Commission’s rules are available on the Commission’s website, www.dora.colorado.gov/puc.  

44. The ALJ finds that the civil penalty assessment described and cease and desist order achieve the following purposes:  (a) deterring future violations, whether by other similarly situated carriers and by Respondent; (b) motivating Respondent to come into compliance with the law; and (c) punishing Respondent for his past illegal behavior.  
45. Pursuant to § 40-6-109(2), C.R.S., the ALJ recommends that the Commission enter the following order.  

III. ORDER
A. The Commission Orders That:

1. Mohamed Amrich, doing business as V S P Limousine (Respondent) is assessed a total civil penalty in the amount of $550.00 for Count 1 of Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 107427, which includes a 10 percent surcharge.  Respondent shall pay the total assessed penalty within 20 days of the effective date of this Decision.
2. Respondent is ordered to cease and desist operating in violation of Rule 6309(d), 4 Code of Colorado Regulations (CCR) 723-6.  In particular, should an enforcement official request that Respondent produce a charter order, and Respondent fails to immediately produce a charter order, he has operated in violation of this cease and desist order and Rule 6309(d), 4 CCR 723-6. 

3. Civil Penalty Assessment Notice No. 107489 is dismissed with prejudice. 

4. This consolidated proceeding is closed. 

5. This Recommended Decision shall be effective on the day it becomes the Decision of the Commission, if that is the case, and is entered as of the date above.  

6. As provided by § 40-6-109, C.R.S., copies of this Recommended Decision shall be served upon the parties, who may file exceptions to it.  

If no exceptions are filed within 20 days after service or within any extended period of time authorized, or unless the decision is stayed by the Commission upon its own motion, the recommended decision shall become the decision of the Commission and subject to the provisions of § 40-6-114, C.R.S.

If a party seeks to amend, modify, annul, or reverse basic findings of fact in its exceptions, that party must request and pay for a transcript to be filed, or the parties may stipulate to portions of the transcript according to the procedure stated in § 40-6-113, C.R.S.  If no transcript or stipulation is filed, the Commission is bound by the facts set out by the administrative law judge and the parties cannot challenge these facts.  This will limit what the Commission can review if exceptions are filed.

7. If exceptions to this Decision are filed, they shall not exceed 30 pages in length, unless the Commission for good cause shown permits this limit to be exceeded.
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Doug Dean, 
Director
	THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION
OF THE STATE OF COLORADO


MELODY MIRBABA
________________________________
                     Administrative Law Judge




� Before Staff began presenting its evidence, the ALJ asked Mr. Amrich if he wished to testify.  No less than three times, Mr. Amrich stated that he did not wish to testify.  After Staff completed presenting its evidence, the ALJ again asked Mr. Amrich if he wished to testify.  He again stated he did not wish to testify.  Mr. Amrich examined witnesses, and made an opening statement and a closing argument. 


� On September 10, 2013, Respondent appeared at the Commission’s office to update his address to reflect the address where Mr. Gullatte performed the safety and compliance review.  See Hearing Exhibits 5 to 8. Mr. Gullatte served Respondent with both CPANs at that time. 


� There was not enough evidence to support even an inference that Respondent controlled the vehicle for 30 consecutive days.  For example, an inference could be drawn if there was evidence that Respondent carried motor vehicle liability insurance on the inspected vehicle for at least a 30-day period. 
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